IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 76,074

FRANK ROCA, as Personal Representative of the Estate Of Frank J. Roca, Jr., deceased,

Petitioner,

vs.

VOLKSWAGEN CREDIT, INC., a foreign corporation,

Respondent.

AUG 20 1990

LEVK, SWAND SEE COMME

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

REID, RICCA & RIGELL, P.A. 500 AUSTRALIAN AVENUE SOUTH CLEARLAKE PLAZA, 9TH FLOOR P.O. DRAWER 2926 WEST PALM BEACH, FL 33402-2926 (407)659-7700 BROWARD 421-1970

Attorneys for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On November 19, 1987, the decedent, Frank J. Roca, Jr., was operating a motorcycle when Mary Beth Saibi negligently operated the vehicle she was driving so as to collide with the motorcycle operated by the decedent. (R. 3) As a result of Ms. Saibi's negligence, Frank J. Roca, Jr. was killed. The vehicle operated by Mary Beth Saibi was owned by Respondent, Volkswagen Credit, Inc., and leased to Mary Beth Saibi on September 18, 1987. (R. 30)

The lease agreement between respondent and Mary Beth Saibi was for a period of sixty months and required the lessee to obtain liability insurance with limits of not \$100,000.00 for any one person for bodily injury or \$300,000.00 for any one accident for bodily injury or death and \$50,000.00 for property damage liability coverage. (R. 30) time of the accident in this case, Mary Beth Saibi had a policy of automobile insurance from State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company providing liability insurance coverage on the vehicle in question and said policy was in full force and effect on November 19, This policy of insurance contained bodily injury 1987. (R. 26-27)limits of \$100,000.00 per person and \$300,000.00 per accident and property damage liability coverage of \$50,000.00. (R. 26-27) The lease stated that it was a true lease and that the lessor remained the owner of the vehicle. (R. 31). The lease included the following provisions:

R. LEASE ONLY - NO OPTION TO PURCHASE: I agree that this agreement is one of lease and not of sale. There is no option for me to purchase the vehicle.

L. OWNERSHIP: This is a lease only and you remain the owner of the vehicle. I will not transfer, sublease, rent or do anything to interfere with your ownership of the vehicle.

K. USE:

- 1. I will allow only licensed drivers to operate the vehicle.
- 2. I will keep the vehicle free of all fines, liens and encumbrances.
- 3. I will not use the vehicle illegally, improperly or for hire.
- 4. I will not use the vehicle to pull trailers.
- 5. I will not remove the vehicle from the United States or Canada.
- 6. I will not alter, mark or install equipment in the vehicle without your written consent and I agree to remove same at my sole cost.
- M. RETURN OF THE VEHICLE: At the end of this Lease, I will return the vehicle in good condition to you at the address shown on the front of this Lease or to such other place as VCI may direct and pay any amounts I owe under this Lease.

Petitioner, Frank Roca, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Frank J. Roca, Jr., deceased, filed suit against Mary Beth Saibi and Volkswagen Credit, Inc. on June 27, 1988. (R. 2-4). The complaint alleged that Mary Beth Saibi negligently operated or maintained the leased vehicle so as to cause it to collide with the motorcycle operated by the decedent and as a direct proximate result of the defendant's negligence, Frank J. Roca, Jr. was killed. (R. 3) The complaint further alleged that Mary Beth Saibi was operating this vehicle with the consent and knowledge of its owner, Respondent, Volkswagen Credit, Inc.

Volkswagen Credit moved for final summary judgment on the grounds it was not the legal owner of the automobile in question and therefore had no liability or obligation to the petitioner pursuant to Section 324.021(9)(b), Florida Statutes. (R. 15-17). The basis

for this motion was that Section 324.021(9)(b), which was enacted in 1986, rendered it immune from the vicarious liability which petitioner attempted to impose. (R. 23-31) Subsection 9(b) provides that if a lessee under a lease one year or longer maintains \$100,000/\$300,000 insurance the lessor is not considered the owner of the vehicle "for the purpose of determining financial responsibility for the operation of said motor vehicle or for the acts of the operator in connection therewith."

Petitioner argued below that the statute does not eliminate the lessor's tort liability under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine but rather only relieves a long term lessor of its obligation to provide proof of financial responsibility under Chapter 324. Petitioner also argued that the statute was unconstitutional because it denied access to the courts, equal protection, and substantive due process.

The trial court entered summary judgment in favor of Volkswagen Credit, Inc. and held that Section 342.021(9)(b) does not merely affect an owner's obligations under Chapter 324, Florida Statutes, but eliminates the lessor's common law liability as owner of the vehicle, if the vehicle is leased for a period of one year or longer the required insurance policy limits of not and less \$100,000/\$300,000 bodily injury liability and \$50,000.00 property damage liability are in effect. (R. 59) The trial court also rejected petitioner's argument that Section 324.021(9)(b) unconstitutional and held that the statute was constitutional as applied. (R. 60)

The judgment was appealed to the District Court of Appeal, Third District. (R. 71) Petitioner's initial brief addressed the above issues decided by the trial court. At the time the initial brief was filed, the Second District Court decided Perry v. G.M.A.C. Leasing Corp., 549 So.2d 680 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), review denied, 558 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1990). The issue in Perry was whether section 324.021(9)(b) was constitutional and in resolving this question, the court determined that long-term lessors were not liable under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine prior to 1986. Volkswagen Credit, Inc.'s answer brief relied primarily on the Second District Court of Appeal's decision in Perry.

Before the petitioner's reply brief was filed, the Second District also decided Kraemer v. General Motors Acceptance Corp., 556 So.2d 431 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), (Supreme Court case no. 75,870) which holds that, prior to 1986, owner/lessors leasing their vehicles under not liable under Florida's dangerous term leases were long instrumentality doctrine. Therefore, the argument in petitioner's reply brief was devoted to demonstrating why Perry and Kraemer were wrongly decided. Petitioner also distinguished the facts of those cases from the facts of this case. Unlike the conditional sale leases in Perry and Kraemer, the lease in this case did not contain an option to buy. The Third District Court of Appeal filed a per curiam affirmance decision in this case citing Palmer v. R.S. Evans, Jacksonville, Inc., 81 So.2d 635 (Fla. 1955), and Kraemer, supra. Accordingly, the Third District's decision was based on conclusion that a long term lessor is not liable under the dangerous

instrumentality doctrine. (Supreme Court case no. 75,870)

Petitioner filed a motion for rehearing and requested that the Third District Court certify the issue to this court. However, this motion was denied. In the meantime, the Third District had issued its opinion in Raynor v. Equilease Corporation, 15 FLW D694 (Fla. 3d DCA Mar. 13, 1990), certifying its decision to this Court as one of great public importance pursuant to Article 5, sections 3(b) and (4) of the Florida Constitution. A few weeks later the Third District also certified this question in Tsiknakis v. Volvo Finance North America, Inc., 15 FLW D992 (S. Ct. Case No. 75,968, 75,966). Accordingly, petitioner filed a motion to amend order on rehearing to also certify the issue in this case to this Court which was subsequently granted by opinion filed June 12, 1990. A copy of this decision is included in the appendix to this brief. (A. 1)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The question certified by the Third District to this Court is are liable under long term lessors the instrumentality doctrine for injuries caused by the negligence of Florida courts have long held that the dangerous lessees. instrumentality doctrine applies to hold lessors liable for negligent operation of a vehicle and no distinction was made between long term and short term leases. This Court recognized in <u>Susco Car Rental</u> System of Florida v. Leonard, 112 So.2d 832 (Fla. 1959), that control over a motor vehicle has never been the crucial factor in a determination of liability under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine. An owner is not responsible under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine only when he no longer has beneficial ownership of the vehicle. A lease, unlike a conditional sale, does transfer "beneficial ownership" but only "possession control". Accordingly, the dangerous instrumentality doctrine applies to hold a long term lessor liable for injuries caused by the negligence of the lessee.

Section 324.021(9)(b), Florida Statutes (1986), does not abrogate the dangerous instrumentality doctrine with respect to owners/lessors who comply with this statute. This statute fails to indicate that the legislature intended to change or modify the application of the dangerous instrumentality doctrine with respect to an owner's liability for the use of its automobile. Section 324.021(9)(b) operates only to relieve a long term lessor of its obligation to provide proof of financial responsibility under chapter 324.

The dangerous instrumentality doctrine, which has applied to automobiles since 1920 in Florida, is protected by the access to courts provision set forth in Article I, Section 21 of the Florida Constitution. The legislature may not abolish this right without providing a reasonable alternative to protect the rights of the people of this state unless the legislature shows that there is no alternative method of meeting such public necessity and an overpowering public necessity for the abolishment of this right. The statute fails to meet this test and is thus in violation of Article I, Section 21 of the Florida Constitution.

The statute clearly discriminates against persons injured by leased vehicles as compared to others injured by a motor vehicle. No legitimate legislative purpose is served by denying victims of a leased vehicle accident the same redress available to all other victims injured in a motor vehicle accident. The statute does not promote the health, safety or welfare of the people, but actually infringes upon the injured victim's right of redress for injuries. The statute promotes the interest of the leasing industry at the expense of all other motor vehicle owners, lessors and injured victims. Accordingly, the statutory classification created by section 324.021(9)(b) is arbitrary and unreasonable and thus violates the equal protection and due process clauses of the Florida and United States Constitutions.

Argument

I. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT A "LONG TERM" LESSOR WAS NOT LIABLE UNDER THE DANGEROUS INSTRUMENTALITY DOCTRINE.

The Third District relied on the decisions of Palmer v. R.S. Evans, Jacksonville, Inc., 81 So.2d 635 (Fla. 1955) and Kraemer v. G.M.A.C., 556 So.2d 431 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), in concluding that a long term lessor was not liable under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine. However, the Third District overlooked this Court's emphasis in Palmer upon the fact that a sale was involved "and that the sale had been completed" before the accident in suit. 81 So.2d at 637. Petitioner respectfully adopts and incorporates the arguments concerning the Second District's misinterpretation of Palmer contained in Perry and Kraemer presented by the Petitioner in Raynor v. Equilease, case no. 75-870.

Prior to <u>Perry</u> and <u>Kraemer</u>, Florida courts had held that the dangerous instrumentality doctrine applied to hold lessors liable for negligent operation of a vehicle and no distinction was made between "long term" and "short term" leases. <u>See: Lynch v. Walker</u>, 31 So.2d 268 (Fla. 1947); <u>Fleming v. Alter</u>, 69 So.2d 185 (Fla. 1954); <u>Susco Car Rental System of Florida v. Leonard</u>, 112 So.2d 832 (Fla. 1959); <u>Racecon, Inc. v. Mead</u>, 388 So.2d 266 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980). In <u>Perry and Kraemer</u>, the Second District latched onto the concept of beneficial ownership set forth in <u>Palmer</u>. However, it is apparent the Second District confused the concept of "benefical ownership"

with that of "possession and control". A conditional sale, as in Palmer, creates beneficial ownership whereas a lease agreement only transfers possession and control. See: W.E. Johnson Equipment Co., Inc. v. United Airlines, Inc., 238 So.2d 98, 100 (Fla. 1970) (a sale transfers ownership and a lease or bailment merely transfers possession and anticipates future return of chattel to owner).

Here, the lease at issue is not conditional. In contrast to a conditional sales agreement, the lease in this case states that "[t]his is a lease only and you remain the owner of the vehicle. I will not transfer, sublease, rent, or do anything to interfere with your ownership of the vehicle." (R. 31) Paragraph R of the lease agreement specifically provides:

LEASE ONLY-NO OPTION TO PURCHASE: I agree that this agreement is one of lease and not of sale. There is no option for me to purchase the vehicle.

(R. 31) In addition, the lease imposes significant restrictions on the lessee's use of the vehicle. (R. 31) Accordingly, in contrast to the conditional sale in <u>Palmer</u>, Volkswagen Credit, Inc. did not transfer beneficial ownership of the vehicle and clearly enjoys more than "naked legal title" as security for payment.

The foregoing demonstrates that the conclusions reached in <u>Perry</u> and <u>Kraemer</u> that a long term lessor stands in the same position as a conditional seller is without any legal or factual support.

In enacting section 324.021(9)(b), Florida Statutes, the Florida Legislature recognized the liability of long term lessors under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine which was first established by this Court in 1920. Southern Cotton Oil Company v. Anderson, 81 Fla.

441, 86 So. 629 (1920). Petitioner submits that the court in Perry and Kraemer failed to recognize the key distinction between leases and conditional sales. As aptly stated by the Petitioner in Raynor, a lease, by definition, does not transfer any ownership, beneficial or otherwise, but rather only transfers possession. A lease leaves both legal and beneficial ownership in the owner/lessor. The Second District Court's decision in Perry and Kraemer overlooked the fact that this Court has recognized that control over a motor vehicle has never been the crucial fact in a determination of liability under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine See: Susco Car Rental System of Florida v. Leonard, 112 So.2d 832 (Fla. 1959). In Susco, this Court concluded:

In the final analysis, while the rule governing liability of an owner of a dangerous agency who permits it to be used by another is based on consent, the essential authority or consent is simply consent to the use or operation of such instrumentality beyond his own immediate control. Only to that limited extent is the issue pertinent when members of the public are injured by its operation, and only in a situation where the vehicle is not in operation pursuant to his authority, or where he has in fact been deprived of the incidents of ownership, can such an owner escape responsibility. Certainly the terms of a bailment, either restricted or general, can have no bearing upon that question.

Id. at 837. See also: Union Air Conditioning, Inc. v. Troxtell, 445 So.2d 1057 (Fla. 3d DCA) review denied, 453 So.2d 45 (Fla. 1984); Tribbitt v. Crown Contractors, Inc., 513 So.2d 1084 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987).

This Court made it clear in <u>Susco</u> that an owner cannot deliver a vehicle into the hands of another without continuing his full civil

liability for negligent use of the motor vehicle and an owner cannot escape such liability by contract. 112 So.2d at 837. Based on the foregoing, petitioner respectfully submits that this court should find that a long term lessor is liable under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine.

II. THE TRIAL COURT **ERRED** IN **ENTERING** JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE OWNER/LESSOR PURSUANT TO SECTION 324.021(9)(b), FLORIDA STATUTES BASED ON ITS FINDING THAT THIS STATUTE ABROGATED THE COMMON LAW TORT LIABILITY OF THE OWNERS/LESSORS OF MOTOR VEHICLES.

Petitioner submits that the legislature did not intend, by the enactment of section 324.021(9)(b), Florida Statutes (1986), to abrogate the dangerous instrumentality doctrine with respect to owners/lessors who meet the requirements of the statute. the common law obligation of vehicle owners under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine is independent of any requirement of the financial responsibility law upon which respondent relies. Insurance Company of North America v. Avis Rent-A-Car Systems, Inc., 348 So.2d 1149, 1153 (Fla. 1977). See also: Racecon, Inc. v. Mead, 388 So. 2d 266, 268 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980) (independent of any insurance requirement by virtue of the dangerous instrumentality doctrine, there is a common law obligation of owners of motor vehicles which makes them responsible for injuries caused by such vehicles in the course of its intended use). In addition, nowhere in the statute is there any direct expression by the legislature that it intended to abolish the 70 year old dangerous instrumentality doctrine. generally presumed that no change in the common law was intended by the legislature unless the statute explicitly states otherwise.

Carlisle v. Game and Freshwater Fish Commission, 354 So.2d 362, 364

(Fla. 1977).

An equally well established principle of statutory construction is that even where a statute is designed to supersede or modify rights provided by the common law to some degree, such a statute must be strictly construed and will not be interpreted so as to displace the common law any further than is expressly declared. Arias v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Company, 426 So.2d 1136 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); Allstate Mortgage Company of Florida v. Strausser, 277 So.2d 843 (Fla. 3d DCA 1973); Graham v. Edwards, 472 So.2d 803 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985); Rudolph v. Unger, 417 So.2d 1095 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982). The failure of new subsection (9)(b) to expressly state that it intended to abolish the dangerous instrumentality doctrine indicates that such a radical change was not intended by the legislature.

Petitioner submits that the legislature only intended to shift the requirement of showing proof of financial responsibility under Chapter 324 from the lessor to the lessee where the lessor requires the lessee to maintain a minimum of \$100,000/\$300,000 in bodily injury limits of insurance. While the statute shifts the burden of coverage for the first \$100,000/\$300,000 to the lessee from the lessor, petitioner submits it leaves intact the liability of the lessor and its financial responsibility for amounts in excess of the mandatory minimum coverage. For example, the amendatory language itself is self-limiting. Section 324.021 specifically provides that the definitions contained therein are to be used only "for the

purpose of this chapter".

The purpose of Chapter 324 is stated in section 324.011:

It is the intent of this chapter to promote safety and provide financial security requirements for such owners or operators whose responsibility it is to recompense others for injury to person or property caused by the operation of a motor vehicle. Therefore, it is required herein that the operator of a motor vehicle involved in an accident or convicted of certain traffic offenses meeting the operative provisions of section 324.051(2) shall respond for such damages and show proof of financial ability to respond for damages ..."

Chapter 324 does not regulate or control the extent to which a driver is liable to injured third parties. Rather, the purpose of this chapter is to require those who are legally liable to make adequate financial provision to discharge that liability. The purpose of this chapter is to promote highway safety and secure compensation for injured victims of motor vehicle accidents, <u>Harrison v. Larson</u>, 133 So.2d 446 (Fla. 1st DCA 1961), and not to immunize automobile owners/lessors from tort liability.

The amended language states in pertinent part that "the lessor ... shall not be deemed the owner of said motor vehicle for the purpose of determining financial responsibility for the operation of said motor vehicle or for the acts of the operator in connection therewith". The term "financial responsibility" has a specific meaning as used therein and throughout Chapter 324. For example, subsection (7) of section 324.021, defines "proof of financial responsibility" as "that proof of ability to respond in damages for liability on account of accidents arising out of the use of a motor vehicle", and subsection (8) speaks in terms of an owner's or

operator's policy of liability insurance being furnished as proof of "financial responsibility". Section 324.031 discusses the means by which an operator or owner of a vehicle may prove his "financial responsibility by furnishing evidence of insurance, posting a bond, depositing cash or securities, or furnishing a certificate of self-insurance."

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