## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 76,074

FRANK ROCA, as Personal Representative of the ESTATE OF FRANK J. ROCA, JR., deceased,

Petitioner,

vs.

VOLKSWAGEN CREDIT, INC., a foreign corporation,

Respondent.

On Discretionary Review of a District Court of Appeal Decision Certified as Being of <u>Great Public Importance</u>

# RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

(With Separately Bound Appendix)

WALTON LANTAFF SCHROEDER & CARSON By: G. BART BILLBROUGH Attorneys for Respondent One Biscayne Tower, 25th Floor 2 South Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 379-6411

WALTON LANTAFF SCHROEDER & CARSON

#

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

> Notwithstanding any other provision of the Florida Statutes or existing case law, <u>the</u> <u>lessor</u>, under an agreement to lease a motor vehicle for (1) year of longer, which requires the lessee to obtain insurance acceptable to the lessor which contains limits not less than \$100,000/\$300,000 bodily injury liability and \$50,000 property damage liability; further, this subsection shall be applicable so long as the insurance required under such lease agreement remains in effect, <u>shall not be</u>

## -23-

#### WALTON LANTAFF SCHROEDER & CARSON

deemed the owner of said motor vehicle for the purpose of determining financial responsibility for the operation of said motor vehicle or for the acts of the operator in connection therewith. (Emphasis added).

While the Petitioner would have this Court reference all sorts of rules to glean the legislature's intent, no such efforts are necessary. In <u>Heredia v. Allstate Insurance</u> <u>Company</u>, 358 So.2d 1353 (Fla. 1978), this Court made clear that where the words of a legislative enactment are clear and unambiguous, judicial interpretation cannot substitute for application of the law's unequivocal meaning:

> statutory In matters requiring construction, courts always seek to effectuate legislative intent. Where the words selected by the legislature are clear judicial unambiguous, however, and interpretation is not appropriate to displace the expressed intent. Foley v. State ex rel Gordon, 50 So.2d 179, 184 (Fla. 1981); Platt v. Lanier, 127 So.2d 912, 913 (Fla. 2d DCA 1961). It is neither the function nor prerogative of the courts to speculative on constructions more or less reasonable, when the language itself conveys an unequivocal meaning.

> Heredia v. Allstate Insurance Company, supra, 358 So.2d at 1354-1355.

<u>See also, Shelby Mutual Insurance Company of Shelby, Ohio v.</u> <u>Smith</u>, 556 So.2d 393 (Fla. 1990) (the plain meaning of statutory language is the first consideration of statutory construction). Where the language of a statute is clear, unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, there is no reason to resort to rules of statutory construction for

-24-

interpretation because the statute must be given its plain and obvious import. <u>Buick v. State</u>, 501 So.2d 72 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987).

Rules of statutory construction are only useful in cases of doubt and such rules should never be used to create such doubt, but only to remove it. <u>State v. Egan</u>, 287 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973). Legislative intent must be determined primarily from the language of the statute. If the intent of the legislature is clear and unmistakable from the language used, it is a court's duty to give effect to that intent. In short, a statute is to be taken, construed, and applied in the form enacted. <u>Blount v. State</u>, 102 Fla. 110, 138 So. 2 (1931).

Section 324.021(9)(b) is plain, clear, and unambiguous. The lessor of a motor vehicle, leased for a year or longer, whose lessee complies with the insurance requirements set forth by the statute, is not considered the owner of the motor vehicle for the purpose of determining financial responsibility for the motor vehicle's operation and/or for the acts of the operator of the leased motor vehicle. The language implemented by the Florida Legislature could not have been more explicit.

Section 324.021(9)(b) is a legislative recognition that a long-term lessor, who maintains no authority over the day-to-day use of a motor vehicle, is not the beneficial owner of that motor automobile. Under the statute, the lessor is not deemed the owner of the vehicle and accordingly should not be liable for any injuries resulting therefrom. As such, the

-25-

#### WALTON LANTAFF SCHROEDER & CARSON

Florida Legislature has placed long-term lessors in the same category as conditional vendors. <u>See</u>, Section 324.021(9)(a), Florida Statutes; <u>Palmer v. Evans</u>, 81 So.2d 635 (Fla. 1955).

Indeed, application of the most appropriate rules of statutory construction to the facts of this case demonstrates that the lower courts have reached the correct result. Probably one of the foremost rules of legislative interpretation is that a statute must be construed in its entirety and effect given to every part of the provision under construction as well as every part of the statute as a whole. State v. Gale Distributors, Inc., 349 So.2d 150 (Fla. 1977); Wilensky v. Fields, 267 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1972). To apply the Petitioner's interpretation of Section 324.021(9)(b), the courts of this state would have to simply ignore that the Legislature provided the section apply notwithstanding any other provision of the Florida Statutes or existing case law. The section does not simply limit its applicability to "financial responsibility for the operation of a motor vehicle" as contended by the Petitioner, but instead continues by providing that the long-term lessor is not responsible "for the acts of the operator in connection therewith." Giving effect statutory provision, entire to the the only proper interpretation precludes the conclusion that the section's applicability is limited to liability insurance obligations.

The courts which have addressed this issue uniformly agree with the Respondent's interpretation. In <u>Perry v. G.M.A.C.</u>

-26-

Leasing Corp., 549 So.2d 680 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), review denied, 558 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1990), the Second District Court of Appeal, on facts identical to those presented in the instant case, was called upon to determine whether Section 324.021(9)(b), Florida Statutes, supported a summary judgment in favor of a long-term lessor of an automobile which had been negligently operated by the lessee and which resulted in a wrongful death. In upholding the validity of Section 324.021(9)(b) and its applicability to those facts, the Second District affirmed the summary judgment and concluded that Section 324.021(9)(b) is clear and unambiguous in its effect:

> Accordingly and contrary to plaintiff's argument, it may be concluded that he was not deprived of a right established under Florida law to sue a lessor in these circumstances because it does not appear that such a right has been established. That is, it appears that the parameters of the common law right of action against the vehicle under the of a motor owner dangerous instrumentality doctrine has not been fully established in Florida in this regard prior to the enactment of Section 324.021(9)(b), and that that section established those parameters for the first time.

> Perry v. G.M.A.C. Leasing Corp., supra, 549 So.2d at 682.

The Petitioner's suggestion that Section 324.021(9)(b) is limited to sanctions for failing to meet the financial responsibility laws was directly rejected by the Fourth District Court of Appeal in Folmar v. Young, 560 So.2d 798

-27-

(Fla. 4th DCA 1990). In addressing that argument, the Fourth

District held:

Such an argument requires this court once again to construe the foregoing statute, and we must look not only at the plain language of the statute, but also its history. Carawan v. State, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987). Although Section 324.021(9)(b) is in the financial responsibility chapter, we do not believe that the specific penalties provided for in Section 324.021 apply. Section 324.021 clearly concerns sanctions against individuals in automobile have insurance accidents who do not We believe that the financial coverage. in Section responsibility discussed financial 324.021(9)concerns responsibility imposed by the dangerous instrumentality doctrine, not statutory penalties for failing to provide proof of financial responsibility. Moreover, there would have been no need to enact Section 324.021(9)(b) to require \$100,000/\$300,000 coverage if its only purpose was to exempt lessors from Section 324.021 which requires \$10,000/\$20,000 coverage.

We conclude that Section 324.021(9)(b) constitutes an exception to the dangerous instrumentality doctrine in the case of long-term lessors.

\* \* \*

In conclusion, the legislature by this amendment was attempting to limit liability under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine for long-term lessors. The plain language of the statute and the legislative history indicate that Section 324.021(9) was enacted to limit the liability of lessors under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine and we so hold.

Folmar v. Young, supra, 560 So.2d at 799-801.

#### WALTON LANTAFF SCHROEDER & CARSON

In reaching its result, the <u>Folmar</u> court engaged in a detailed analysis of the Legislature's discussion. After reviewing the extensive legislative history on the issue, the <u>Folmar</u> court again concluded that the Legislature's intent was clearly to except long-term leases from possible dangerous instrumentality doctrine applicability.<sup>5</sup>

The Petitioner's criticism of the <u>Folmar</u> court's ignoring the statute's plain language, Petitioner's brief on the merits, p. 15, is truly curious when this Court considers the actual language of the statutory section itself.<sup>6</sup> For all of the criticism and suggestions that the statutory language relates solely to financial responsibility laws, that is not what the statute says. The statutory language plainly does not draw the line at financial responsibility, but includes the liability for an owner in connection with any long-term lease:

> [T]he lessor, . . , shall not be deemed the owner of said motor vehicle for the purpose of determining financial responsibility for the operation of said motor vehicle <u>or for the acts of the</u> <u>operator in connection wherewith</u>.

In light of the fact that the dangerous instrumentality

<sup>6</sup> Petitioner's brief suggested that the Fourth District Court of Appeal has <u>Folmar</u> under reconsideration which is inaccurate. A motion for rehearing has been filed but the court has taken no action.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The <u>Folmar</u> decision quotes in detail various legislator's statements. Rather than reproduce those statements for this Court, a copy of the <u>Folmar</u> decision is contained in this brief's appendix and those legislative statements are incorporated here by reference. (A. 5).

doctrine's applicability has historically turned on the ability of the owner to control the acts of the operator of his vehicle, it is clear that this statute excepts long-term lessors from any possible applicability of the doctrine.

Finally, the Petitioner places great importance in the fact that the 1987 Legislature rearranged certain wording in Section 324.021(9)(b). See, Chapter 88-370, Laws of Florida. A review of the statutory modifications, which occurred subsequent to the facts and circumstances of the instant case, demonstrate no substantive change in text. Indeed, the senate staff analysis and economic impact statement does not indicate that the section has been improperly construed by the courts of this state. As such, the reference to the changes are superfluous, were made solely to fix grammatical difficulties, and contribute nothing to this Court's analysis of these issues.

In conclusion, Judge Altenbernd's concurrence in <u>Kraemer</u>, is worthy of note. After observing that Florida's judicial attempt to address the issue of responsibility for injuries caused by motor vehicles has clearly been an uncommon, minority approach, 7A Am.Jur.2d <u>Automobiles and Highway Traffic</u> Section 641 (1980), Judge Altenbernd applauded the judiciary's efforts in this area, but nonetheless recognized that the weighing of societal goals and priorities are best left for legislative action:

-30-
From a historical perspective, one cannot fault the courts of Florida for their interest in solving the problems arising from the motorized horse at the beginning of the twentieth century. On the other hand, one cannot help wondering whether our judicial actions during the days of the Model T have allowed the legislature to avoid a careful legislative examination of the roles which vicarious liability and insurance can and should best serve in this state's efforts to protect the public from both the danger and the damages created by the motor vehicle. As one member of the would welcome the judiciary, Ι legislature's decision to replace the of doctrine dangerous judicial instrumentality with a well-conceived, comprehensive statutory alternative.

<u>Kraemer</u>, <u>supra</u>, 556 So.2d at 436 (Altenbernd, J., concurring).

While Section 324.021(9)(b) may not be the comprehensive statutory scheme envisioned by Judge Altenbernd, it is nonetheless the Legislature's appropriate evaluation of liability for motor vehicles in one area: long-term leases. Given that fact, the Respondent submits this Court will appropriately give due respect to the Legislature's enactment in this area and uphold the various lower courts' rulings on this issue. <u>Gates v. GMAC</u>, 564 So.2d 640 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990); Tsiknaskis v. Volvo Finance North America, Inc., 15 FLW 992, So.2d (Fla. 3d DCA April 17, 1990); Abdala v. World Omni Leasing, Inc., 15 FLW 992, \_\_\_\_ So.2d (Fla. 3d DCA April 17, 1990); <u>Raynor v. De La Nuez</u>, 558 So.2d 141 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990); Folmar v. Young, 560 So.2d 798 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990); Kraemer v. GMAC, 556 So.2d 431 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989); Perry v.

-31-

<u>GMAC</u>, 549 So.2d 680 (Fla. 2d DCA ), <u>review denied</u>, 558 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1990).

Affirmance is warranted.

### WALTON LANTAFF SCHROEDER & CARSON

II. THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DID NOT COURT'S AFFIRMING TRIAL ERR IN THE THAT SECTION 324.021(9)(b), CONCLUSION FLORIDA STATUTES, WAS CONSTITUTIONAL WHERE THE ISSUES WAS WAIVED IN THE TRIAL COURT AND THE PETITIONER FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE A VIOLATION OF THE ACCESS TO THE COURTS, EQUAL PROTECTION, OR DUE PROCESS OF LAW STATE AND PROVISIONS OF THE FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS (Restating Petitioner's Point III).

The Petitioner also attacks the constitutionality of Section 324.021(9)(b) by contending that the section violates Article I, Section 21 of the Florida Constitution regarding access to the courts, as well as contravenes the equal protection and due process clauses of the Florida and United States Constitutions. A review of these issues demonstrates that the trial court and the Third District Court of Appeal were eminently correct in rejecting the Petitioner's arguments.

It is well-settled that the burden upon a party challenging the constitutionality of a statute is to clearly demonstrate the act is in fact invalid. <u>Village of North Palm</u> <u>Beach v. Mason</u>, 167 So.2d 721, 726 (Fla. 1964). It is equally true that any legislative enactment carries a strong presumption of constitutionality and every presumption must be indulged in favor of its validity. <u>Gulfstream Park Racing</u> <u>Association, Inc. v. Department of Business Regulation</u>, 441 So.2d 627 (Fla. 1983); <u>Powell v. State</u>, 345 So.2d 724 (Fla. 1977); <u>Burnsed v. Seaboard Coast Line Railroad Co.</u>, 290 So.2d

-33-

## WALTON LANTAFF SCHROEDER & CARSON

13 (Fla. 1974).

First, it should be noted that these arguments were waived in the trial court. When Volkswagen Credit, Inc. filed its answer and affirmative defenses in this case and raised the issue of Section 324.021(9)(b) applicability, the Petitioner did nothing more than deny the affirmative defenses' allegations and made no attempt to avoid the statute's applicability by asserting the constitutionality arguments. Once the issues had been framed, the Petitioner should not have been heard to belatedly raise constitutionality questions not set forth by those pleadings.

It is axiomatic that the issues in litigation are framed solely by the pleadings. <u>Hart Properties, Inc. v. Slack</u>, 159 So.2d 236 (Fla. 1963); <u>Griffin v. Griffin</u>, 463 So.2d 569 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). Once the issues have been fixed by the pleadings, they may be changed only by (a) stipulation of the parties, (b) consent or acquiescence of the parties, (c) motion and order, or (d) by express or implied agreement to conform to the evidence. <u>Griffin v. Griffin</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Provident National Bank v. Thunderbird Associates</u>, 364 So.2d 790 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978). When a plaintiff simply denies affirmative defenses, he is not entitled at trial to raise new matters in avoidance thereof. <u>North American Philips Corp. v. Boles</u>, 405 So.2d 202 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981). Because the Petitioner in the instant case failed to allege the constitutionality argument as an avoidance, the argument was not properly presented in the trial

-34-

court and should resultingly be deemed waived. <u>See e.g.</u>, <u>Trushin v. State</u>, 425 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1983); <u>Brady v. State</u>, 518 So.2d 1305 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987).

## Access To The Courts

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